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TUNNELLERS WAR DIARY


In the following Diary no attempt is made to record all the most important of the 2,000 mines fired by the British and the enemy during three years of underground warfare, or to give a complete summary of the Tunnellers’ war activities.  Only a few notable events are recorded which seem best to mark and memorise the different periods of Tunnelling history, associated with trench warfare, with offensive operations, and with open warfare, in retreat and advance, from the end of 1914 to the Armistice.


During the longer and more essentially underground phases, the Tunnellers created a history of their own.  Many of the most critical points along the front were held or won as the issue of underground warfare, and will be associated historically with Tunnelling operations, e.g., Hill 60, the Bluff, St. Eloi, Messines-Wytschaete Ridge, and Givenchy, in the clay; Cuinchy Brickstacks, Hohenzollern, Hill 70, Double Crassiers and Hill 110 (Fricourt), in the chalk.  But during the later phases, and notably during the open fighting of 1918, the History of Tunnelling Companies became more closely identified with that of Corps and Division, or even of Brigade and Battalion, to which companies, sections and parties were attached.
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WAR MEMORIAL

OF

THE INSTITUTION OF MINING AND METALLURGY

The photograph of the War Memorial on the opposite page is reproduced through the courtesy of the Council of the Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London.

This fine piece of work, in malachite and bronze, was designed and modelled by Lt. Col. P.N. Nissen, D.S.O., Member of Council of the Institution, who served with distinction with Field Companies, R.E., and was also closely in touch with Tunnelling Companies throughout the War.

An unveiling ceremony was held in London on the 24th November, 1921, attended by many Senior Officers of the Royal Engineers, and representative members of the Institution of Mining and Metallurgy and of the Institution of Mining Engineers.  Field Marshal Earl Haig delivered a stirring address.

Recalling how many of the Institutions Honoured Dead had been Tunnellers, he said:, “ .  .  .  Further, you have afforded me an opportunity to say a few words of special thanks to a body of men whose work in France seldom drew upon itself much notice or glory at the time, but was surpassed by none in the demands it made upon the skill, the courage and the resolution of the individuals concerned, or in the service it rendered to the Army as a whole.

“One thinks naturally of the Battle of Messines, and of the mighty series of explosions that tore great gaps in the German line, on the 7th June, 1917, and gave the signal for one of the most successful of our attacks.  That was the work of the special Services to which you sent so many gallant men, and it was indeed a signal triumph of British mining in war.  Yet few, I think, outside those who took part in the work and benefited by its results realise the immense amount of steady, persistent toil in every circumstance of peril, surrounded by danger in a form that might well appal the stoutest-hearted, that went to the preparation of that triumph.  Few, I know, realise how vast, how important to the safety, comfort, and success of our troops was the work of our miners, work that was little commented upon in the Press, but yet went on steadily and continuously, day after day, and year after year, along the whole of the British Front.  Every offensive undertaken by us, right up to the days of the last great series of advances, meant a fresh call upon the energy, the industry, and the courage of those special Services upon whom the due preparation of these offensives so largely depended.

“Tunnelled approaches had to be constructed from great distances, dug-outs built for headquarters, dressing stations and shelters generally.  Every big offensive made demand of that kind.  .  .  .

“Then later, when the day of the elaborately mounted attack was over, the Tunnelling Companies found new work, hardly less arduous or dangerous, in the discovery and the removal of many thousands of German mines.  .  .  .

“I am glad to thank, not for myself only, but on behalf of the whole Army, this gallant body of men.”

1914

Dec. 20:
Enemy fired first mines of the War (10 small charges) on Givenchy front, held by Indian Corps.

British defensive mining commenced under Field Coys, R.E. and Brigade Mining Sections.


(Mining schemes put forward, at end of November and beginning of December, by III. and IV. Corps, but found impracticable for want of men.)

1915

Jan. --:
Urgent demand for special mining units from First and Second Armies.  Scheme worked out by War Office, advised by Major (later Lieut.-Col. Sir) J. Norton Griffiths, K.C.B., D.S.O., attached to E. in C., G.H.Q., Major-General (now Lieut.-Gen. Sir) G. H. Fowkes, K.C.B., K.C.M.G.

Jan. 25:
Enemy fired series of small mines on Cuinchy front, held by 1st Division.


Feb. --:
Formation of 170 to 174 Tunnelling Coys, R.E., and shortly after, of 175 to 177 Coys.

Feb. 20:
First party of Tunnellers (Major Norton Griffiths’ “clay-kickers”) arrived in France.

   21:
Enemy fired mine at “ Shrewsbury Forest”, Ypres Salient, destroying trench held by 16th Lancers.

Mar. 14:
Enemy fired mine at St.Eloi, and captured the Mound.

--:
British defensive mining active at Givenchy, Cuinchy, Fauquissart, Houplines, Ploegsteert Wood, Hill 60, St. Eloi, and Ypres Salient.

April 17:
First British offensive mines fired in attack on Hill 60 by 28th Division.  Five mines – pair of 2,700lbs. gunpowder each, pair of 2,000lbs., and one of 500lbs. guncotton.

        --:
Mining commenced by 29th Div. Engineers at Cape Helles, Gallipoli.

May  --:
Mining very active, Cuinchy Brickstacks.

June 18:
British offensive mines fired opposite Frelinghein, near Armentieres.

July  --:
178-182 T. Coys authorised by W.O. Offensive mining scheme started against Messines-Wytschaete Ridge.

Aug. --:
Mining very active on Fricourt Hill, Somme area, upon relief of the French.

       21:
Number of shallow mines exploded in support of our offensive on Gallipoli front.

Sept. 25:
Battle of Loos, followed shortly by very active dugout work and mining in the Hohenzollern Redoubt, Quarries, St. Eloi, Hulluch, Chalk Pit, Hill 70, and Double Crassiers sectors.

        25:
British mine fired at Railway Wood, Ypres Salient.

Oct.  --:
Training in mine rescue work commenced, owing to the appeals of companies, especially those working in chalk formation, for use of oxygen apparatus.

Oct.-Nov.:
Big mines blown by enemy at the Bluff, Flanders.

Dec.  --:
Appointment of Inspector of Mines, G.H.Q. (Brig.-General R. N. Harvey) and Controllers of Mines – First Army (Lieut.-Col. G. C. Williams), Second Army (Lieut.-Col. A. G. Stevenson), and Third Army (Lieut.-Col. B. W. Y. Danford).

 

        --:
3rd Canadian Tunnelling Company formed in France from 1st and 2nd Canadian Divisions.

       20:
Six mines fired on Gallipoli front, upon British evacuation of Cape Helles.

1916

Jan. 22:
Enemy mined and destroyed Infantry position at the Bluff, Flanders.

       --:
Exceptional mining activity on both sides on the Bethune-Loos front from Givenchy, Cuinchy and Hohenzollern Redoubt, to Hill 70 and Double Crassiers.

Mar.   :
1st and 2nd Canadian Tunnelling Companies arrived in France

      10:
Arrival in France of New Zealand Tunnelling Company.

      27:
Four British offensive mines blown at St. Eloi.

April   :
Five Tunnelling Companies allotted to preparations for Somme offensive.

April 16:
“Red Dragon” crater blown by enemy at Givenchy.

May     :
Australian Mining Battalion and Headquarters arrived in France.  (Total strength of Tunnelling Service thereby raised to 32 Companies, with over 700 officers and 20,000 other ranks)

June    :
The most active mining month of the War.  On all fronts, 101 British mines and 126 German mines were fired.

July   1:
Somme offensive begun.  Nine British mines fired at Hawthorne Ridge Redoubt, La Boiselle, Tambour du Clos and Carnoy.  Tunnels provided in advanced positions for communications and emplacements.

      25:
Four enemy mines fired behind our trenches at the Bluff.

      25:
Army mine schools established.

Sept. 3 & 9:
Mines and pushpipe charges fired at High Wood in Somme offensive.

1917

Feb. 8:
German withdrawal began on the Somme front.  Cross-roads mined and blown by the enemy.

Mar. 25:
Bapaume Town Hall destroyed and several non-combatants killed by the explosions of the first delay-action mine used in the War.  Brigade H.Q. dugouts similarly destroyed few hours later.  Search for delay-action mines and traps, in cellars, dugouts, bridge abutments and at cross-roads, commenced.

April  9:
British capture Vimy Ridge in Battle of Arras.  Two mines fired in the attack.  Infantry subways used for the first time on a large scale, made and maintained by Tunnelling Companies.  Twelve subways, from reserve to assaulting trenches, averaged half a mile in length.  At Arras, Tunnellers developed and prepared St. Sauveur and Ronville Caves and Tunnels for assembly of troops and the assault.

June  7:
Capture of Messines-Wytschaete Ridge.  Nineteen mines, with an aggregate charge of nearly 500 tons of ammonal, at an average depth of 75 feet, were fired at zero hour, with demoralising effects upon the enemy.  From north to south, the mines – extending along a front of nine miles – were : Hill 60 (2), St. Eloi, Hollandcheschuur (3), Petit Bois (2), Maedelstede Farm, Peckham, Spanbroekmoelen, Kruistraat (3), Ontario Farm, Trench 127 (2), Trench 122 (Ploegsteert Wood), (2).

July 13:
German local success at Lombartzyde, Nieuport Dunes, where 3,000 – 4,000 feet of difficult tunnelling in sand had been completed with the object of making this position possibly tenable.

      24:
Entry and capture of enemy mine system on Hill 70, opposite Loos.

      31:
Fifth Army operations against Passchendaele Ridge commenced (Battle of Flanders).  8½ Tunnelling Companies were employed in preparatory work, notably in subways at Boesinghe (canal bank), and dugouts or subways at Chasseur Farm, Glimpse Cottage, Lancashire Farm, View Farm, Weiltje, Turco Farm, Warwick Farm, Railway Wood, Y Wood, Menin Road, Sanctuary Wood, Armagh Wood, Mt. Sorrel, Birr Cross Roads, Halfway House, Dormy House and Hill 60, all in the Ypres Salient.

Nov. 6:
Capture of Passchendaele.

     20:
Third Army advance on Cambrai front, involving first big tank attack.  Tunnelling Companies rendered certain assistance, and were involved in German counter-attack ay Gouzeaucourt on 3rd December.

1918

Mar. 21:
Commencement of great German Somme offensive on the Fifth and Third Army fronts, gaining most advanced point near Amiens on the 5th April.  Tunnellers heavily involved in the fighting, in organising and holding new defences, and in the demolition, or preparations for demolition, of bridges, roads, caves, wells, etc.

April  9:
German offensive and advance on the First and Second Army fronts from Givenchy to the Ypres Salient, resulting in loss of Armentieres, Merville, Messines Ridge, Bailleul and Kemmel by the 23rd April.  Tunnellers similarly employed in defensive fighting and constructing hasty defences, dugouts, shelters and emplacements.

May    :
Some Tunnelling Companies employed in supervision of Rear Zone defence lines.

June & July :
Preparations for great British offensive.  Tunnelling Companies actively employed on all fronts in forward dugouts and emplacements.  Companies also received special instruction in Infantry training and in the duties of investigation parties for removal of land mines, traps and demolition charges.

Aug.   8:
British advance on Somme front commenced.

       23:
British advance across the River Ancre.

Sept. 28:
Second Army advance begun in Flanders.

        30:
Battle of Cambrai commenced.

Oct.  4:
Capture of Lens.

        9:
Capture of Cambrai.

      17:
Lille and Tourcoing evacuated by enemy.

Nov. 2:
Capture of Mauberge.

     10:
Capture of Mons.

During these last three months of open warfare, sections and parties were engaged in the special Tunnellers’ duties of seeking and removing delay-action and anti-tank mines, traps and other charges of explosives, and in the work of Field Companies on forward dugouts and shelters, roads, bridges and general R.E. reconnaissance in the Infantry advance.  The official summary shows that during the period, the Tunnellers constructed 149 heavy and 38 light bridges, and removed (1) 6.714 enemy land mines; (2) 315 delay-action mines; and (3) 24,725 demolition charges, involving a total weight of 1,320 tons of explosives.

 

The gaps in this War Diary should be filled with the incidents of mine warfare (often most keen when there was least activity in the trenches) with records of participation in raids, and of many special duties which fell to the Tunnellers for months or years, regardless of relieving Corps and Divisions.  The Tunnellers were rarely out of the forward areas.  Rest was provided internally, by sections, whilst Companies gave unbroken service in the line. 

Extracted and transcribed from - Register of Tunnelling Company Officers – February 1925 

concerning Royal Engineers; Canadian Engineers; Australian Engineers and New Zealand Engineers

The crowning figure represents an officer of the Tunnelling Companies in the act of firing a mine by means of an electric exploder.  He is depicted as standing in mud, with the exploder on a pile of sandbags, which inturn rest on a portion of a trench-board.  In a simple way, four phases of warfare are suggested – the exploder representing “attack”, the sandbags “defence”, the trench-board “transport” and the petrol-tin “supplies”.








